
AGENDA 
 

Port of Kennewick 
Special Commission Business Meeting 

Tri-Cities Business & Visitor Center 
Bechtel Board Room 

7130 W. Grandridge Boulevard 
Kennewick, Washington 

 
Tuesday, August 27, 2019 

2:00 p.m. 
 
 

I. CALL TO ORDER 
 
II. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
III. APPROVAL OF AGENDA 
 
IV. PUBLIC COMMENT (Please state your name and address for the public record) 

 
V. CONSENT AGENDA 

A. Approval of Direct Deposit and ePayments Dated August 19, 2019 
B. Approval of Warrant Register Dated August 27, 2019 
C. Approval of Special Commission Business Meeting Minutes August 13, 2019 

 
VI. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Dave Mitcham, Cedars Lease Agreement (AMBER) 
 

VII. OLD BUSINESS 
A. Citizen Complaint (LUCY) 

1. Selection of Neutral; Resolution 2019-17 
2. Sanctions for Commissioner Moak; Resolution 2019-18 

 
VIII. REPORTS, COMMENTS AND DISCUSSION ITEMS 

A. West Richland Offer Update (AMBER/ LUCY) 
B. Commissioner Meetings (formal and informal meetings with groups or individuals) 
C. Non-Scheduled Items 

 
IX. PUBLIC COMMENT (Please state your name and address for the public record) 
 
X. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 

PLEASE SILENCE CELL PHONES 



PORT OF KENNEWICK 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 

    
      
   DRAFT AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
   

Page 1 of 18 

 

Commission President Thomas Moak called the Special Commission Meeting to order at 2:00 p.m. in the 
Bechtel Board Room located at 7130 West Grandridge Boulevard, Kennewick, Washington 99336. 
 
The following were present: 
 
Board Members: Thomas Moak, President 

Don Barnes, Vice-President   
Skip Novakovich, Secretary   
  

Staff Members: Tim Arntzen, Chief Executive Officer 
 Tana Bader Inglima, Deputy Chief Executive Officer 
 Amber Hanchette, Director of Real Estate and Operations 
 Nick Kooiker, Chief Financial Officer 

 Larry Peterson, Director of Planning and Development 
 Lisa Schumacher, Special Projects Coordinator 
 Bridgette Scott, Executive Assistant 
 Lucinda Luke, Port Counsel 
  

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  
Commissioner Barnes led the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA  
 
MOTION:  Commissioner Novakovich moved to approve the Agenda as presented; Commissioner 
Barnes seconded.  With no further discussion, motion carried unanimously.  All in favor 3:0. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT  
No comments were made. 
 
CONSENT AGENDA  

A. Approval of Direct Deposit and E-Payments Dated August 2, 2019 
Direct Deposit and E-Payments totaling $80,678.49 

B. Approval of Warrant Register Dated August 13, 2019 
Expense Fund Voucher Number 101296 through 101347 for a grand total of $902,363.98 

C. Approval of Regular Commission Business Meeting Minutes July 9, 2019 
D. Approval of Special Commission Business Meeting Minutes July 30, 2019 

 
 

MOTION:  Commissioner Barnes moved for approval of the Consent Agenda as presented; 
Commissioner Novakovich seconded.  With no further discussion, motion carried unanimously.  All 
in favor 3:0.   



PORT OF KENNEWICK   AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 
     DRAFT  
 

Page 2 of 18 

REPORTS, COMMENTS AND DISCUSSION ITEMS   
A. Vista Field Update 

Mr. Peterson presented photos of the progress of the construction at Vista Field over the past 
several months. Construction is on schedule and slated for completion in January 2020.   
 
Discussion ensued regarding construction progress at Vista Field. 
 

1. City of Kennewick Proposed Amendment to the Comprehensive Plan Comments 
Mr. Peterson stated the City of Kennewick has requested comments from the Port of 
Kennewick, for the City’s proposed amendments to their Comprehensive Plan.  The City 
Planning Commission will be holding a public hearing to amend the Comp Plan to change 
the zoning designation around the Kennewick Public Facilities District properties, areas 
south of Grandridge Boulevard, and around Vista Field from Commercial to Urban Mixed 
Use (UMU).  The letter that would support the designation of the UMU zoning, which lends 
to the city center idea that was envisioned in the Port’s Vista Field Master Plan.  Mr. Peterson 
stated the letter might also include comments regarding the work the Port compiled for the 
transportation and utility impacts, and land use considerations prior to the development 
agreement, which identified traffic mitigation and specific fixes and triggers on particular 
intersections; and ask the City to analyze the impacts to Vista Field and the overall 
neighborhood.    
 
Mr. Arntzen spoke with Marie Mosley, City of Kennewick City Manager regarding the draft 
letter for review, but has yet to receive her comments.  Should the Commission authorize 
staff to send a letter in support of the zoning changes, it would be prudent if the letter was 
well received by the City Manager.  Mr. Arntzen would like to draft a letter with Ms. Mosley 
which supports the UMU zoning, but also outlines some terms regarding mitigation.  Mr. 
Arntzen inquired if the Commission is agreeable to staff drafting a letter in conjunction with 
the City Manager which offers support of the UMU zoning and outlines points raised by Mr. 
Peterson.    
 
Commissioner Novakovich stated drafting a letter is well within Mr. Arntzen’s delegation of 
authority to work with the City Manager and send forward to the City Planning Commission.  
Commissioner Novakovich is in favor of Mr. Arntzen drafting a letter with the assistance of 
Ms. Mosley. 
 
Commissioner Barnes stated the Port has a working relationship with the City, and without 
knowing the specific language of the letter, he trusts Mr. Arntzen to work with Ms. Mosley 
to address any issues.   
 
Commissioner Moak believes UMU zoning is important and it will play into creating the 
density and nexus that makes Vista Field a soundly viable economic project.  Commissioner 
Moak thinks that the future work by the City and Port will be helped by the change in zoning.  
Commissioner Moak trusts that Mr. Arntzen and Ms. Mosley will work together to come up 
with something very useful.  Commissioner Moak emphasized that the Commission believes 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 
     DRAFT  
 

Page 3 of 18 

this is a sound change and the Port did a lot of work to move Vista Field forward and it is 
important that the City is nicely reminded of the work.   
 
Mr. Arntzen reiterated that the Commission authorizes staff to draft a letter that is well 
received by Ms. Mosley and highlights the Port’s previous analysis at Vista Field.  Mr. 
Arntzen stated that if staff cannot reach an agreement with the City, the letter will not be sent.   
 
Commissioner Moak stated that is reflective of the Commission’s interest. 

 
B. Columbia Drive Update 

Mr. Peterson presented photos from the construction progress at Columbia Gardens Wine Tasting 
Building. 
 
Discussion ensued regarding progress at Columbia Gardens.  
 

C. Southridge Update 
1. Auction Services Request for Proposals  

Ms. Hanchette stated Resolution 2019-15 relates to Port property in the Southridge area.   The 
8.5 acres of property is located across from Southridge High and has been for sale since 
March 2017.  The Southridge parcels have been consistently advertised through a variety of 
marketing channels, including LOOPNET, Zoom Prospector, and direct mailings to real 
estate brokers, contractors, and land developers.  A potential idea to sell the property was to 
utilize an auction house to accelerate the sales process and use those funds for high priority 
Port projects.  Commission directed staff to explore Requests for Proposals for auction 
services, which was advertised in July on the Port website and in the Tri-City Herald.  The 
Port received interest from four auction services and a number of questions were answered 
through an addendum.  The Port received two proposals; Govdeals.com, a website company 
submitted a two-page marketing flyer, which was disqualified; and Musser Bros. Auctions.  
Previously, Musser Bros. made two presentations to the Port Commission on their services 
and offered that a number of local government entities, such as Kennewick Irrigation District 
and Department of Natural Resources have utilized their services.  Musser Bros. utilizes a 
trademark power parcel marketing system, which is an advanced marketing program that 
increases interest and awareness of the property.  The proposal would include a marketing 
plan that would be a mutually agreed upon price by the Port and vendor prior to the auction 
process.  Musser Bros. did not estimate a price for their proposal and they do not have a 
requirement for guaranteed commission.  The price determined would be subject to 
Commission approval and Musser Bros. provides a sixty day timeline, if the Commission 
moves forward with their proposal.  Ms. Hanchette reviewed the proposal and did not find 
anything concerning and is happy to answer any questions.    
 
Commissioner Moak inquired if any local, regional firms approached the Port. 
 
Ms. Hanchette stated a Spokane firm inquired about the RFP; however they sent a letter 
saying they would not be able to submit a proposal.  
 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 
     DRAFT  
 

Page 4 of 18 

Commissioner Barnes inquired if the Commission discussed the upfront marketing costs at a 
previous meeting. 
 
Ms. Hanchette believes the Commission and staff discussed the up-front costs previously and 
the costs were estimated to be $20,000-$30,000 for the marketing program.   
 
Commissioner Moak stated his recollection was around $25,000. 
 
Commissioner Barnes inquired if the parcels have been marketed for $7.00/per square foot 
since 2017. 
 
Ms. Hanchette stated that is correct.   
 
Commissioner Barnes asked if staff considered reducing the asking price.  Commissioner 
Barnes confirmed that the appraisal was completed in January 2017 for one single parcel at 
$3.50/per square foot or for the individual lots, $7.00/per square foot and based on the 
appraisal, the Port was marketing the property at $7.00/per square foot. 
 
Ms. Hanchette stated that is correct and indicated that the surrounding comparables to the 
Port’s property, in 2017 were approximately $10-12.00 per square foot.  The Port was already 
at the lower end surrounding that piece.  The Port has not reduced the price and stated of the 
two appraisals that were conducted, once indicated that the lower price was for a single user, 
such as a big box store, that would purchase the entire 8.5 acres.  The higher end of the 
assessed price is if the parcels were sold individually. 
 
Commissioner Novakovich confirmed that Ms. Hanchette is a licensed Realtor and asked, in 
her professional opinion, if she has done everything possible to market the property that she 
can think of and concluding that an auction would be in the best interest of the Port.  
 
Ms. Hanchette is a licensed Realtor and stated the property was not listed on the Multiple 
Listing Service (MLS), because the Port would need to use a broker and list with an agency.  
Outside of the MLS, Ms. Hanchette used Loopnet, which is a highly recognized internet 
service that brokers utilize.  Ms. Hanchette stated there was an exhaustive marketing effort 
outside of the MLS. 
 
Commissioner Novakovich believes Ms. Hanchette has done a great job marketing the 
property and believes the Port has reached a point where we need to look at something else 
to be able to diversify. 
 
Commissioner Barnes asked, in Ms. Hanchette’s professional opinion as a real estate 
agent/broker, if the auction alternative were not available, would it make sense to look at a 
price reduction.  Commissioner Barnes stated there is no question of the exposure of the 
property; however, he believes the market is sending a message regarding the price. 
 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 
     DRAFT  
 

Page 5 of 18 

Ms. Hanchette stated there are completely different views to take.  The auction process is 
different from traditional marketing of the property and creates a different sense of urgency.  
The traditional method is working leads, whereas the auction process is different, in that it 
identifies what the market will bear today.  Ms. Hanchette deferred back to the Commission 
if they would like to proceed with the auction process or reduce the price of the property and 
stated each option has value in different ways. 
 
Mr. Arntzen stated the Commission and staff have been discussing the auction process over 
several meetings and the Commission had instructed the CEO and staff to ready the property 
for auction.    
 

MOTION: Commissioner Novakovich moved to approve Resolution 2019-15, accepting the proposal 
for auction services of Port owned land parcels in the Southridge Kennewick portion of the Port 
District; and further ratify and approve all action by Port officers and employees in furtherance 
hereof; Commissioner Moak seconded.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENT  
Bill McKay inquired how the Port obtained ownership of the property and what did they pay for it. 
 
Mr. Peterson stated the Port purchased 180 acres from the Department of Natural Resources in 1994 and 
believes the property was $.11 cents per square foot.   
 
No further comments were made. 
 
 Discussion: 

Commissioner Moak stated Mr. Musser made two presentations to the Commission and 
explained the auction process, and provided a very strong application and portfolio.   The 
property has been for sale for several years, and Commissioner Moak stated looking at a 
different way of marketing this property and using the process Musser Bros., who has 
successfully auctioned off other properties, is worth the gamble.  The Commission has discussed 
the auction process at length and it is not a guarantee.  Commissioner Moak believes this is a 
good proposal and it is time to move forward with Southridge and make it happen. 
 
Commissioner Barnes expressed his concerns about the upfront cost and eventual outcome.  
Commissioner Barnes stated there is no way to know in advance what the outcome will be with 
this process.  Ms. Hanchette has done an excellent job exposing the property to the market, there 
is no question of the market’s awareness of this property.  Commissioner Barnes stated the 
conventional way might be to reduce price and see what happens; however the auction process 
is more expedient to perhaps the same outcome.  Commissioner Barnes does not believe the Port 
has ever auction property before and maybe we can try it and hopefully we get a lot of interest, 
enthusiasm, and a positive outcome for the Port.  

 
With no further discussion, motion carried unanimously.  All in favor 3:0. 

 
 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 
     DRAFT  
 

Page 6 of 18 

D. City of West Richland Update 
Ms. Hanchette updated the Commission on the City of West Richland’s offer for the former 
racetrack property.  The City offered to purchase the former racetrack, which is approximately 93 
acres in West Richland to construct a new police station, as well as market some of the economic 
development ideas that the Port put into the Master Plan, and a public recreation area. At the last 
meeting, Commission directed staff to continue working with City staff to address a number of 
items in the offer.  Ms. Hanchette has worked very closely with Mayor Gerry and City staff.  There 
were a number of items and contingencies that needed to be addressed, such as price, source of 
funds, and water rights.  Staff provided Mayor Gerry with the requested documents which includes: 
title, surveys, and easements for City review.  Ms. Hanchette continues negotiations with the City 
and will be meeting with Benton County staff to discuss the City’s potential source of Rural Capital 
County Funds to purchase the property.  Ms. Hanchette continues to address the contingencies and 
working with the Ms. Luke and Mr. Arntzen on the offer or Purchase and Sale Agreement (PSA).    
 
Commissioner Novakovich thanked Ms. Hanchette for the update. 
 
Commissioner Moak stated one of the concerns that came up was the question of water rights and 
working with the Department of Ecology.  Commissioner Moak inquired if staff broached the 
application process with the Department of Ecology. 
 
Ms. Hanchette stated the City understands the net value of the water rights, and whatever is 
remaining from the water transfer would be part of the PSA transaction.  Ms. Hanchette stated Mr. 
Peterson has been working with Ben Floyd of White Bluffs Consulting on the application and 
asked him to update the Commission.  
 
Mr. Peterson stated Mr. Floyd has been working closely with the Department of Ecology on the 
various scenarios regarding the transfer of water rights to Benton County fairgrounds.  The PSA 
will address the potential transfer and what would happen if Department of Ecology took all of the 
water rights.  The general principal of water rights is use it or lose it; however the Port has 
continued to use the water rights on the former racetrack.  Mr. Peterson stated the PSA is being 
drafted to address the numerous scenarios with those water rights.    
 
Commissioner Novakovich inquired if there will be enough water rights to transfer to Vista Field.  
 
Mr. Peterson stated there is enough water rights to accommodate the Benton County fairgrounds, 
and Vista Field in addition to a significant surplus for the former raceway.  If the City developed 
the former raceway per the Port’s Master Plan, there would be a surplus in water.   
 

E. Executive Training Update 
Mr. Arntzen stated one of his objectives set by the Commission, is to attend an executive training 
course.  Mr. Arntzen is considering two options:  an executive training course at Boise State 
University or a course administered by Jim Darling of Maul Foster Alongi, former executive 
director of the Port of Bellingham.  Mr. Darling’s proposed course will include 3-5 port CEO’s 
and address topics of importance to ports. The course will be held a day and a half prior to 
Washington Public Port Association (WPPA) Small Ports Conference.  The CEO’s would travel 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 
     DRAFT  
 

Page 7 of 18 

to Leavenworth early to attend Mr. Darling’s training and then attend the Small Port’s Conference.  
Mr. Arntzen is waiting for the final details and will report back as to which training he will pursue.  
 

F. Appointment of CEO Evaluation Committee Members 
Ms. Luke stated before the Commission is Resolution 2019-16 which address the CEO Evaluation 
Committee – Commissioner Appointment.  The first meeting for the performance evaluation 
committee is set to occur before September 15, 2019 and before the Commission is a Resolution 
appointing a new committee member.  The CEO Performance Evaluation was updated in 2017 to 
make it more efficient and effective and consistent with current management trends. The updated 
evaluation process provides for the formation of a committee which includes the Port Attorney 
(Ms. Luke), the Port’s Chief Financial Officer (Mr. Kooiker), and one Commissioner, who serves 
a two year term.  Commissioner Barnes was appointed in 2017 to the CEO Evaluation Committee 
and pursuant to the Port Commission Rule 15.1.1, the Commission is due to appoint another 
Commissioner to the committee.  Ms. Luke stated after careful review of various matters pending 
before the Port Commission and the potential liability issues that could arise from the recently 
completed citizen complaint investigation, Ms. Luke recommends that Commissioner Skip 
Novakovich be appointed to the CEO Evaluation Committee for the next two years of CEO 
evaluations. 

 
Mr. Kooiker stated as Ms. Luke mentioned the policy states the committee meets before September 
15, 2019 in order to meet the final deadline of December 15, 2019 for Commission approval. 
Between September and December the committee will be deliberating and bring a recommendation 
to the Commission for final approval.  
 
Commissioner Barnes stated Ms. Luke referenced Commission Rule 15.1.1 and believes the 
Commission Rules of Policy and Procedure are included later in the packet; however, he was not 
able to find 15.1.1.       
 
Ms. Luke stated there is an update to the Commission Rules that includes 15.1.1.  Ms. Luke did 
not include that rule in the Agenda Packet; however, she can provide a copy and assures 
Commissioner Barnes that it is in the Rules.    
 
Commissioner Barnes stated Resolution 2017-27 was passed, which updated the procedures.  
Commissioner Barnes passed out copies of Resolution 2017-27 and noted that the update included 
several revisions; it revised paragraph 6 – evaluation, and amended it as Ms. Luke mentioned; 
however, it also included a proviso that the annual evaluation process will revert to the original 
paragraph 6 language and use of the exhibit D format at such time as the Port Commission 
determines to discontinue using the CEO Evaluation Committee Process.  Commissioner Barnes 
stated Ms. Luke noted in her Agenda Report “after careful review of various matters pending 
before the Port Commission and the potential liability issues that could arise from the recently 
completed citizen complaint investigation,” and Commissioner Barnes inquired if the Port 
Commission would like to consider, because it was provided as a possibility in 2017 under 
Resolution 2017-27, reverting back to the original process.   
 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 
     DRAFT  
 

Page 8 of 18 

Ms. Luke stated as noted in her Agenda Report, our intent at the time in 2017 was to bring this 
process into the future, rather than revert back.  Ms. Luke would recommend against reverting back 
to the old process due to that fact.  
 
Commissioner Moak asked what the previous process consisted of. 
 
Ms. Luke stated it was quite cumbersome, where each one of the Commissioners filled out a fairly 
lengthy evaluation form.  Those forms were then combined into one evaluation form, which was 
fairly lengthy and was typically more than ten pages.  The form itself is fairly old and Ms. Luke 
has not seen the form used in a number of years in the evaluation process.  Ms. Luke stated it was 
a cumbersome process and each Commissioner participated in it and found it to be cumbersome, 
just because it necessitated each Commissioner filling out a very lengthy form and then having 
Ms. Luke combine the form into one evaluation.   
 
Commissioner Barnes stated one of the benefits of being a Port of Kennewick Commissioner is 
that we are able to attend WPPA conferences, and we are able to interact with other port 
commissioners and share our experiences, ask questions about problems, and what commissioners 
may encounter and how does your port handle this.  Commissioner Barnes has had occasion to 
speak to some individuals that have attended port conferences regarding the way that they evaluate 
their Executive Director/CEO/Manager.  It is a range, but some of the feedback he received, one 
question from a very well respected attorney actually said, “why would you ever delegate the 
evaluation of your CEO, it is one of your primary responsibilities as a Commissioner.”  So again, 
Commissioner Barnes agrees the old process was lengthy and cumbersome, there was a lot of work 
that went into it, required by each Commissioner.  Commissioner Barnes imagines that if the 
Commission wanted to revert back to three Commissioners performing the evaluation of our CEO, 
perhaps we could fine tune it and adjust it.  Right now, the evaluation is three individuals evaluating 
our CEO and then it eventually comes to us for the formal approval, based on committee 
recommendation, as he understands it.  Commissioner Barnes stated there is a lot going on, as Ms. 
Luke mentioned, here at the Port of Kennewick, but one thing he wanted to lay on the table, for 
consideration with his fellow Commissioners, was whether or not, as provided back in 2017, 
whether or not we want to revert back to a process where its three individual Commissioners 
evaluating of our CEO.  
 
Commissioner Novakovich understands where Commissioner Barnes is coming from, that it 
probably is the Commission’s responsibility, but also, he believes that staff and possibly our legal 
counsel work with our CEO a lot more than Commissioners do and have a lot more firsthand 
knowledge of how the CEO behaves, how he handles matters, and what his expertise is.  
Commissioner Novakovich referenced a term from when he was commissioned in the Military.  
The Colonel that pinned his bars on him told him to listen to the sergeants on the ground, because 
they have been there and done that and they know what they are doing and will protect your back.  
Commissioner Novakovich believes this is very similar, we listen to staff because they have been 
there and they have interacted with the Commissioner, they have interacted with the staff and 
interacted with the CEO.  And they probably have a lot better handle on the ability of our CEO, to 
handle his position than the Commission does.  Commissioner Novakovich thinks having one 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 
     DRAFT  
 

Page 9 of 18 

Commissioner and staff person and our legal counsel makes a whole lot of sense.  Commissioner 
Novakovich is totally in favor of the way we have been handling things.  
 

MOTION: Commissioner Novakovich moved to approve Resolution 2019-16, appointing 
Commissioner Skip Novakovich for a two-year term to the CEO Evaluation Committee commencing 
immediately; and further ratify and approve all action by Port officers and employees in furtherance 
hereof; motion dies for lack of second. 
 

Ms. Luke asked for Commission direction since the committee is tasked with meeting by 
September 15, 2019. 
 
Commissioner Barnes stated Resolution 2017-27 provided for reversion back to the old process.  
Commissioner Barnes believes it would be possible for the old process to be fine-tuned or 
modernized or whatever, but again it would be the responsibility of the three Commissioners to 
evaluate the CEO.  Commissioner Barnes is in favor of reverting back to the old process and then 
going to work to perhaps modify it to make it more modern, more applicable, and more appropriate. 
 
Commissioner Novakovich brought a Point of Order, there was action before the Commission and 
there was not a call for Public Comment, as is our normal course.  
 
Commissioner Moak stated since there was no motion that was seconded, there is no public 
comment at this point.  
 
Ms. Luke stated the Port is required to evaluate the CEO by December 15, 2019 and staff will need 
to initiate a process by which we do that, so we will need to obtain direction from the Commission 
in order to timely complete the evaluation process.  
 

MOTION: Commissioner Barnes moved that the CEO Annual Evaluation Process revert to the 
original paragraph 6 language and use of the Exhibit D format that existed prior to Resolution 2017-
27; Commissioner Moak seconded.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
No comments were made 
 

Discussion:  
Commissioner Novakovich stated this seems to him that this is an attempt by two Commissioners 
that are subject to a citizen’s complaint, to overrule what seems to be a practical matter of 
evaluating the CEO.  Commissioner Novakovich certainly hopes that isn’t the case, but it is pretty 
obvious that seems to be what is happening. 
 
Commissioner Moak does not think that is what is happening at all.    
 
Commissioner Barnes agrees with Commissioner Moak and that is not what is happening at all.  
The Port of Kennewick Commission has the responsibility to evaluate the CEO as one of its 
primary responsibilities.  



PORT OF KENNEWICK   AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 
     DRAFT  
 

Page 10 of 18 

Commissioner Moak stated there are certain parts of the revised CEO Evaluation that he liked and 
some of it went very smoothly.  But, there are parts he did not like, and he does think that staff left 
us in a very difficult position by the recommendation.  Commissioner Moak thinks we need to 
move forward with CEO evaluation and staff provided us with only one option.  
 
Commissioner Novakovich stated staff provided the Commission with the continuation for what 
we have done for the past two years, which sets a precedent for how we behave.  Commissioner 
Novakovich reiterated that two Commissioners that are looking to change this and evaluate the 
CEO are the two Commissioners who are subject to the citizen’s complaint, for mistreatment of 
the CEO.  Commissioner Novakovich thinks it is very unfair, and asked for that to be on the record 
and for the public to know that.  Commissioner Novakovich thinks it is very unfair to have two 
Commissioners subject to complaint that says they mistreated our CEO be part of an evaluation 
committee to evaluate our CEO.     
 
Commissioner Barnes thinks this is a very subtle change, and it does not represent, say a significant 
change.  The process that was used for the past two years consisted of a committee making a 
recommendation to the Commission for the evaluation. So the Commission had the ultimate 
approval of the final evaluation.  This just removes the committee recommendation from the 
evaluation.  It is still the Commission that evaluates the CEO.  Commissioner Barnes stated, to be 
fair also, there is a potential for and he is not saying there is, a conflict of interest.  Commissioner 
Barnes thinks here, under this proposed change, to revert back to the way it was, is putting the 
responsibility back squarely on the table with the Port Commission, and he believes where it 
belongs, and where it should be. 
 
Commissioner Novakovich stated the process that has been in place for the past two years put it 
squarely on the Commission, except the recommendation came from people that are more in tuned 
to what our CEO is doing, rather than the Commissioners that are subject to a citizen’s complaint.  
Commissioner Novakovich reiterated that he thinks this is very unfair, and he thinks it is stacking 
the deck against our CEO, and does not see this as a good thing for the Port of Kennewick. 
 

With no further discussion, motion carried.  All in favor 2 (Commissioners Barnes and Moak):1 Nay 
(Commissioner Novakovich).   
 

G. Commissioner Meetings (formal and informal meetings with groups or individuals) 
1. Commissioner Moak attended the exit meeting with Clifton Larson Allen and the Port 

received a clean audit. 
 

H. Non-Scheduled Items 
1. Commissioner Moak recently met a gentleman who utilized the Port’s guest moorage.  The 

citizen stated the facilities and the staff that he interfaced with were great, and had such great 
customer service skills and were very nice people to work with. Commissioner Moak asked 
Ms. Hanchette to convey to staff who dealt with guest moorage that he was a very happy 
customer.  

 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 
     DRAFT  
 

Page 11 of 18 

2. Mr. Kooiker stated the Port recently had their 2018 financial statement exit conference 
performed by Clifton Larson Allen (CLA).  CLA has been performing third party audits for 
the Port for the past six years and the Port received a clean audit for 2018.  Mr. Kooiker stated 
the State Auditor’s Office is set to begin their audit in September.  Mr. Kooiker thanked 
Commissioner Moak for attending the exit interview.  
 
Mr. Kooiker reported that the Commission Meeting Room remodel timeline has been extended, 
therefore the next Commission Meeting on August 27, 2019 will be held in the Bechtel Board 
Room.   
 

3. Ms. Hanchette stated in regards to Commissioner Moak’s comments regarding guest moorage, 
she recognized Kandy Yates, Port Marina Manager; however, it could have been Bridgette 
Scott, Lisa Schumacher, or Jennifer Roach, who may have helped him, because they all pitch 
in and help whenever it’s needed.  

 
NEW BUSINESS 

A. Citizen Complaint  
Ms. Luke reported on the citizen complaint, which was received by the CEO and Ms. Luke on 
March 25, 2019 against Commissioners Moak and Barnes.  The investigation was initiated per Port 
Rules and the investigation has been laid out and followed pursuant to the rules as carefully as 
possible. The Port Commission Rules of Policy and Procedure are followed when a complaint 
against Commissioners is received.  Section 5 of the Port Rules governs the complaint handling 
process. As part of that process, outside legal counsel Tara Parker of the law firm Ogden Murphy 
Wallace was retained to conduct the investigation.  Ms. Luke noted that she did not know Ms. 
Parker prior to this process, nor had she dealt with Ogden Murphy Wallace Law Firm, nor had her 
law firm had any association with either one of them.  Ms. Parker was retained her for experience 
investigating matters of this type and she spends a portion of her week in Olympia investigating 
legislative complaints.  Ms. Luke outlined Ms. Parker’s report: 
 
The Investigation Process: 

• The Executive Director recused himself; 
• All further steps delegated to Port counsel, and/or an investigator retained for such purpose 

by Port counsel;   
• Tara Parker was retained to conduct the investigation; 
• She determined the scope of the investigation and undertook interviews of the 

Complainant, Respondents, and 6 witnesses; 
• She also reviewed the Port Rules, relevant statutes, and other documents she determined 

relevant to her investigation. 
 
Complaint and Witness Statements Raised Four Questions that were investigated: 

• Did Commissioners Barnes and Moak violate the Washington Open Public Meetings Act, 
RCW 42.30, by privately discussing Port Business? 

• Did Commissioner Barnes and/or Commissioner Moak violate Port rules and policies in 
their directives and communications? 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 
     DRAFT  
 

Page 12 of 18 

• Did Commissioner Barnes create a hostile work environment for the Port CEO in violation 
of Port polices and/or Washington law? 

• Did Commissioner Moak breach his obligation to perform his duties as Commission 
President to enforce the Commissioner’s policies and procedures? 

 
Investigation Completed and Report Issued 
Upon completion of her investigation, Ms. Parker issued her Report dated August 6, 2019 and 
made six findings:  

• Commissioners Barnes and Moak did not violated the Washington Open Public Meetings 
Act. 

• Commissioners Barnes and Moak did not violate the Port Rules in their directives to staff 
related to Resolution 2019-2.  

• Commissioner Moak did not breach his obligation to perform his duties as Commission 
President. 

 
Findings against Commissioners 
Ms. Parker made three findings against Commissioners Barnes and Moak as follows: 

1. Commissioner Barnes did violate Port rules and Policies when he called Duany Plater-
Zyberk Partners (DPZ) and the State Auditor’s Office (SAO) regarding business matters; 

2. Commissioner Barnes did create a hostile work environment for Port CEO in violation of 
Port policies; 

3. Commissioner Moak violated the Port Rules requiring civil and respectful treatment of 
others on one occasion. 

 
Commissioner Barnes did violate Port rules and Policies when he called DPZ and the SAO 
regarding business matters. 

1. On February 18 Commissioner Barnes called the Port’s Vista Field consultant DPZ 
regarding the Ivy land sale matter. 

2. It was reported that this contact could harm the Port’s relationship with DPZ. 
3. In June, during the pendency of this investigation, Commissioner Barnes called the State 

Auditor’s Office regarding the Port’s buy back clause. 
4. It was reported that this contact could place the Port under increased scrutiny by the SAO. 

 
• Port Rules state “Commissioner request for information shall be made to the Executive 

Director and that information is to be shared with all commissioners so that each member 
may be equally informed.”  

• Long-standing practices of the Port Commission is to follow this Rule for the orderly, 
efficient and transparent conduct of Port business.  

 
Ms. Parker reported that: 

• When viewed in its totality, the information obtained supports a finding that Commissioner 
Barnes exhibited repeated, significant hostility – in public and private – against the CEO. 

 
Commissioner Moak violated the Port Rules requiring civil and respectful treatment of others on 
one occasion. 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 
     DRAFT  
 

Page 13 of 18 

1. It was reported that Commissioner Moak yelled “I blame you” at the CEO in reference to 
the Ivy transaction. 

2. It was reported that Commissioner Moak had on more than on occasion in public meetings 
“jokingly” threatened to fire the CEO. 

3. It was reported that Commissioner Moak dressed down a jurisdictional partner’s public 
works director.  

• Port Rule 3.6 states that Commissioners shall conduct themselves with civility and respect 
at all times with one another, with staff, and with members of the public.   

• Ms. Parker determined that the information obtained in her investigation substantiated that 
Commissioner Moak violated this rule when he yelled at the CEO in executive session. 

 
Commission Rules of Policy and Procedure states that Section 5.5 of the Commission Rules of 
Policy and Procedure states that if Port counsel finds misconduct and the complaint substantiated, 
a report to Executive Director and the Commission shall set forth the basis for the determination 
and a recommended action.    
 
The Port Rules 5.9 – 5.11 set forth the sanctions that may be levied as the result of a substantiated 
complaint of misconduct: 

• Censure and/or reprimand  
• Reassignment of committee assignments 
• Other actions 
• Publication the fact of any sanction 
• Other legal action that may be available under the law 
• The Port shall not indemnify or defend any Commissioner charged with misconduct 

 
Recommended Actions 
 
Commissioner Barnes did violate the Port Rules and Polices when he called DPZ and the SAO 
regarding business matters. 
 
The recommended actions for this violation by Commissioner Barnes are: 

A. Formal public censure by resolution adopted by the Commission.  
B. Satisfactory completion of training identified by Port Counsel covering topics including 

o Roles and responsibilities of a Port Commissioner 
o Port of Kennewick Commission Rules and Policies   
o Commissioner Barnes shall be personally responsible for any cost or fee associated 

with the training   
C. Publication of the above sanctions in the Tri-City Herald. 

 
Commissioner Barnes did create a hostile work environment for Port CEO in violation of Port 
policies. 
 
Because of its serious nature and broad impact, there are several recommended actions resulting 
from this substantiated allegation of misconduct, as follows: 
 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 
     DRAFT  
 

Page 14 of 18 

A. Formal public censure in the form of a resolution adopted by the Commission.  
B. Satisfactory completion by Commissioner Barnes of training identified by Port Counsel 

covering the following topics: 
o understanding, correcting, and preventing hostile work environment behaviors 
o professional communication skills  
o roles and responsibilities of a Port Commissioner 
o Port of Kennewick Commission Rules and Policies   
o Costs and fees for all such training shall be paid by Commissioner Barnes.   

C. Cooperative participation in team building activities and trainings with Port CEO and staff.  
Such activities shall be identified by Port Counsel with the assistance of outside 
consultants, Port CEO and staff.   

D. Publication of the above sanctions in the Tri-City Herald. 
 

Commissioner Moak violated the Port Rule requiring civil and respectful treatment of others on 
one occasion.  
  
The recommended actions for this violation are: 

 
A. Verbal reprimand reported in Commission meeting minutes. 
B. Satisfactory completion by Commissioner Moak of training identified by Port Counsel 

covering the following topics: 
o professional communication skills  
o Port Commission Rules and Policies   
o Costs and fees for all such training shall be paid by Commissioner Moak.  

C. Cooperative participation in team building activities and trainings with Port CEO and staff.  
Such activities shall be identified by Port Counsel with the assistance of consultants, Port 
CEO and staff.   

D. Publication of the above sanctions in the Tri-City Herald. 
 

Next Steps 
• Port Rule 5.7 provides for a hearing and decision upon the Recommended Action. 
• The Complainant and Respondents have the right to request a hearing or to accept and 

implement the Recommended Action. 
• Either decision today – for hearing or to accept the Recommended Action will be 

implemented at the next Commission meeting. 
• If a hearing is requested, the determination and recommended action of Port counsel shall 

be submitted to a mutually agreeable neutral. 
• The neutral will be selected from Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services (“JAMS”) or 

Judicial Dispute Resolution (“JDR”), or other similarly qualified third party neutral as 
agreed upon by the Complainant and the Respondents.   

• The neutral selected shall promptly hear, consider and issue a decision regarding the 
recommended action.   

• The neutral shall determine the hearing process and shall issue a decision within 30 days 
of the hearing.  



PORT OF KENNEWICK   AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 
     DRAFT  
 

Page 15 of 18 

• The neutral’s decision is subject to reconsideration upon written request by Complainant 
or Respondent(s).   

• The parties shall be notified of the final decision, and any action required by the final 
decision shall be implemented immediately. 

• The costs billed to the Port to date for the investigation are about $52,000.  It is estimated 
that a hearing process will cost a like or greater amount.   

 
Ms. Luke stated this is an ongoing process and the Port has received the report and recommended 
action has been submitted and a decision is to be made, whether or not recommended action will 
be accepted or whether a hearing process will be undertaken.  Ms. Luke reminded everyone 
involved in this process that pursuant to the Port Rules of Policies and Procedures, no employee 
will be discharged, threatened, or discriminated against in any manner for following up on any 
complaint or for reporting what they have perceived to be misconduct.  Ms. Luke asked, because 
this process is ongoing, that questions during this interim period, be directed to her, so that either 
Ms. Luke can address them or direct them to the correct person so that they can be adequately 
responded to.  Ms. Luke inquired if the Commission has any questions. 
 
Commissioner Novakovich inquired why Ms. Parker did not present her report.    
 
Ms. Luke stated Ms. Parker originally had planned on attending, but after consideration of what 
she believed to be emotions running very high as it related to this issue and her report, she 
believed it would not be productive for her to be here today. 
 
Commissioner Moak inquired where does the Commission go from here.   
 
Ms. Luke stated a decision regarding the recommended actions, whether they are accepted or 
not.  If the recommended actions are not accepted, then a hearing process would be instituted.  
 
Commissioner Moak would like to make a statement: 
 
A lot of this stemmed from the decision on the Ivy property that adjoined the Port’s Vista Field 
properties.  When that came up, it was something that he had very much of an interest in, and he 
was going to bring that issue to the Commission.  But then he heard Commissioner Barnes, very 
eloquently, discuss the importance of the Ivy property to the Port; the specific location of the Ivy 
property and where it was, and why we should take a stronger stand.  Commissioner Moak 
thought Commissioner Barnes was extremely eloquent at that time and he thought it deserved 
greater scrutiny.  At no time, did Commissioner Moak ever discuss with Commissioner Barnes 
or with anybody else, his feelings on the Ivy property, nor would he ever.  Commissioner Moak 
have been in public life for 30 some years in this community.  Would he deliberately break the 
law over something like this? Or anything with the Port of Kennewick.  These were allegations 
that were thrown out there, and Ms. Parker concluded there was no substance.  But Commissioner 
Moak believed that properties outside of the 103 acres outside of Vista Field were something 
that we ought to be looking at. Commissioner Moak believed that this was policy decision for 
the Board.  Now, he knows some of you over (indicating staff) here disagreed with the decision 
or the question that we had.  At some point, when we had the facts and the answers, 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 
     DRAFT  
 

Page 16 of 18 

Commissioner Moak believes we were able to make a great public policy decision.  When 
Commissioner Moak learned what the Farmworkers Clinic was going to be, and the design 
standards that they applied, he was much more comfortable with that decision.  Commissioner 
Moak has been into design standards for a long time, through his public policy work for the City 
of Kennewick, and is very appalled by some of the building that has happened around Vista Field 
over the years and not creating the kind of environment that he thinks our premier project at Vista 
Field should have.  Those sorts of things were weighing on his mind, and we had talked about 
this in years past and the Amera building and what it was doing, and he did not want to see 
similar things happening on this property.  Commissioner Moak was very pleased and sorry we 
went through a lot of grief over it.  Commissioner Moak believes it was an appropriate public 
policy decision and to consider.  So what happened, there was a difference in opinions, and very 
clearly, in his mind, he raised his voice, and in Mr. Arntzen’s mind, Commissioner Moak yelled.  
Commissioner Moak stated that is a determination each of us has to make.  Commissioner Moak 
respects Mr. Arntzen feeling that way and Commissioner Moak is sure he felt that way and 
Commissioner Moak apologized at the next meeting.  Unfortunately because this was an 
Executive Session, he cannot go back and listen to what he said or know exactly what he said 
that day.  In Commissioner Moak’s mind, it is certainly far worse than anything that he hears 
said by the President of the United States or against the President of the United States.  But it 
didn’t meet Commissioner Moak’s standards of how he should conduct himself. But it was a 
tense situation, it was a tense situation for staff and it was a tense situation for the Commissioners, 
and those situations sometimes, the best of us do not prevail and it did not with Commissioner 
Moak that day and he apologized again today.  Commissioner Moak is sorry and beyond that, to 
him, the sanctions for a single meeting outburst or whatever, seemed a little much. Commissioner 
Moak prides himself on the way he conducts meetings, which he has done for a variety of 
organizations, and try to be fair to each Commissioner, fair to staff and fair to the public.  That 
means Commissioner Moak lets comments, even like the ones Commissioner Novakovich 
uttered earlier this afternoon go by without comment, because he believes that each 
Commissioner has the right to speak up and say what they have to say.  They are each 
individually elected, and he does not supervise them, he presides over the meetings and tries to 
keep the meeting moving. Commissioner Moak thinks of it as a referee of basketball, when he 
lets the plays play through.  Commissioner Moak counts on, that if people object, they will raise 
those objections at the time, and not make complaints, so called anonymous complaints, after 
when they had a chance to raise those and didn’t.  The way to correct action is, in Commissioner 
Moak’s mind, is at the time.  And if Commissioner Moak can do better at his job, he certainly 
should.  When Commissioner Moak became President of this Port, he was given no instructions 
on how to interpret the Port Rules and Procedures, given no training on how to use Roberts Rules 
of Order and yet it seems, that the president is being expected to know these and to follow these 
and make sure everybody else is following them when he is in the middle of trying to run a 
meeting and keeping things going.  Whether Commissioner Moak likes it or not, he accepts the 
sanctions, because he thinks it is important to move on.  What Commissioner Moak has been 
doing here for the five and a half years is putting Vista Field first, what he has been doing was 
trying to get Columbia Gardens done.  That is the priorities of what Commissioner Moak has 
been trying to do and he thinks we have been very successful.  The three of us at these tables and 
staff, have worked well together.  And Commissioner Moak knows Mr. Arntzen did not like the 
decision earlier related to the CEO evaluation, but Commissioner Moak can tell you he has great 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 
     DRAFT  
 

Page 17 of 18 

respect, and he told that to Ms. Parker and that is in the record, for what Mr. Arntzen does for 
this Port.  Commissioner Moak told Ms. Parker and will tell Mr. Arntzen, who doesn’t believe it 
or it doesn’t look that way by his demeanor, but Commissioner Moak does and he does not see 
that because he yelled at Mr. Arntzen once, as anything other than his frustration at one meeting.  
Commissioner Moak thinks Mr. Arntzen has done a great job and he expects that to reflect in 
Mr. Arntzen’s evaluation.  Commissioner Moak is human and he makes mistakes, but he 
committed no law, no violation of law, and most of the allegations were certainly not accepted 
by investigator, who spent a lot of money, talking to a lot of people and came up with those 
conclusions.  Commissioner Moak accepts the sanctions that are there and looks forward to 
learning more about the rules of the Port Commission Rules because if the job is that he is going 
to have to start enforcing them much to a greater deal than he has in the past and letting less pass, 
then he needs to understand that.  If there are ways that we can work better between staff and 
Commission, he supports that too. Commissioner Moak has great respect for our staff and is 
disappointed.  Commissioner Moak has nothing further at this point. 
 
Commissioner Barnes thanked Commissioner Moak and respects and appreciate everything he 
said.  Commissioner Barnes’s tenure as a Port Commissioner at the Port of Kennewick began in 
this room when he was appointed on May 8, 2012.  From day one, Commissioner Barnes’s goal 
and objective has been to look out for the best interest of the voters and the tax payers.  For more 
than six years, up until January of this year, Commissioner Barnes has enjoyed a positive and 
constructive working relationship with the Port of Kennewick CEO and staff.  We have 
accomplished many things together, of which he is very proud.  Commissioner Barnes 
respectfully disagree with two findings of this investigative report and hereby requests a hearing 
before a neutral, as provided in Port Policies and Procedure.  Commissioner Barnes looks 
forward to the day when he will be able to tell his side of the story that has led us to this point.  
In the interim, Commissioner Barnes will continue to work hard, ask tough questions, to protect 
the best interest of the Port citizens and tax payers. 
 
Ms. Luke understands that at the next Commission Meeting, we will undertake steps to select a 
neutral for the hearing and to also initiate steps to take the recommended action as it relates to 
Commissioner Moak.  Ms. Luke will bring them forward at the August 27, 2019 Commission 
Meeting.  
 
Commissioner Novakovich asked Ms. Luke, in reading Ms. Parker’s report, it says the witnesses 
spoke at length at how the Ivy episode caused a severe deterioration of staff morale, some staff 
now reported they felt fearful of their jobs, and are uncomfortable with one or both of the 
respondents.  Commissioner Novakovich asked how is the staff supposed to function in a hostile 
work environment.  
 
Commissioner Moak stated ruled Commissioner Novakovich’s comments out of order. 
 
Commissioner Novakovich thinks we should vacate the seat of president because he does not 
think our president...  
 
Commissioner Moak stated Commissioner Novakovich is out of order and asked Ms. Luke if she 



PORT OF KENNEWICK   AUGUST 13, 2019 MINUTES 
SPECIAL COMMISSION MEETING 
     DRAFT  
 

Page 18 of 18 

has anything further she wishes to add. 
 
Ms. Luke stated she has nothing else to add. 

 
PUBLIC COMMENTS 
No comments were made.   
 
COMMISSION COMMENTS 
No comments were made. 
 
ADJOURNMENT  
With no further business to bring before the Board; the meeting was adjourned 3:53 p.m.  
 
 
APPROVED: PORT of KENNEWICK 

BOARD of COMMISSIONERS 
  

      
Thomas Moak, President 
 

       
Don Barnes, Vice President 
 

 
 

      

 Skip Novakovich, Secretary 

 



  

          AGENDA REPORT  
 
TO:      Port Commission 
  
FROM:    Lucinda J. Luke, Port Counsel 
 
MEETING DATE:    August 27, 2019 
 
AGENDA ITEM:  Resolution 2019-17, Selection of Neutral for Hearing Pursuant 

to Port Commission Rules of Policy and Procedure Section 5 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
I. REFERENCE(S):  Port Commission Rules of Policy and Procedure (“Port 

Rule”) Section 5, adopted by Resolution 2019-10 on June 11, 2019 (attached); 
Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services information and roster of neutrals 
with governmental/public agency experience (attached); and, Judicial Dispute 
Resolution information and roster of neutrals (attached). 

 
II. FISCAL IMPACT:  Estimated fees and costs for a hearing process are 

$75,000, not including Port CEO and staff time.  
 

III. DISCUSSION:  In the August 13, 2019 Commission meeting, Commissioner 
Don Barnes reported that he did not accept the Recommended Action resulting 
from Tara L. Parker’s August 6, 2019 Report of Independent Investigation 
determination that Commissioner Barnes A) violated Port Rules when he 
contacted DPZ and the State Auditor’s Office regarding business matters, and 
B) created a hostile work environment for Port CEO in violated of Port policies.  
Commissioner Barnes disagreed with these findings and requested a hearing 
before a neutral, as provided in Port Policies and Procedure.   

 
Pursuant to Port Rule Section 5.7, when a complaint is made by one or more of 
the Commissioners against one or more Commissioner, the determination and 
recommended action of Port counsel shall be submitted to a mutually agreeable 
neutral selected from the panel of neutrals available at the Seattle office of 
Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services (“JAMS”) or Judicial Dispute 
Resolution (“JDR”), or other similarly qualified third party neutral as agreed 
upon by the Complainant and the Respondents.   

 



  

Attached are the Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services (JAMS) roster of 
neutrals with governmental/public agency experience and the Judicial Dispute 
Resolution (JDR) roster of neutrals.  I have focused the JAMS list by searching 
experience with governmental and public agency.  JDR has a smaller panel of 
neutrals and did not offer that search option.  You will note that most of the 
neutrals available on these rosters are retired judges with extensive 
courtroom, arbitration, and mediation experience.  Additionally, most neutrals 
practiced law for many years prior to becoming a judge.   Any of the neutrals 
on these panels will be qualified to handle the hearing process contemplated 
by the Port Rule Section 5.    

 
 I have provided biographies from JAMS neutrals Hon. Sharon Armstrong, 

Hon. Ronald E. Cox, Hon. Helen L. Halpert, Lawrence R. Mills, and Hon. 
Thomas McPhee and JDR neutrals Hon. George Finkle, Hon. Paris K. Kallas, 
Hon. Steve Scott.  From my review and recent input from partners at my firm, 
I suggest that this narrowed groups of neutrals have the most relevant 
experience for the purpose of this hearing process.   Please note that Judge 
Halpert was the assigned judge for a case I was involved before she retired.  
Judge Armstrong was assigned to an arbitration I handled and I have had 
mediations conducted by Judge McPhee.  I have found all to be very 
knowledgeable, well-prepared, as well as fair and even-handed in their 
handling of matters.  I highly recommend Hon. Sharon Armstrong, if available.  
Alternatively, either of the other two retired judges from JAMS (Judge Halpert 
or McPhee) or Hon. Steve Scott from JDR for the neutral to conduct the hearing 
contemplated by Port Rule Section 5.   I also recommend that an alternate 
neutral be selected in the case that the first choice of neutrals is not available. 

 
IV. COUNSEL RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt Resolution 2019-**. 
 
V. ACTION REQUESTED OF COMMISSION:   
 

 
Motion: I move approval of Resolution 2019-17 selecting 

Hon. Sharon Armstrong as the neutral to conduct a hearing 
process pursuant to Port Rule Section 5. 
 
 
 



  

PORT OF KENNEWICK 
 

Resolution No. 2019-17 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  
OF THE PORT OF KENNEWICK  

APPOINTING A NEUTRAL FOR HEARING PROCESS 
 
 

WHEREAS, on March 25, 2019 a citizen complaint against Commissioners Moak and 
Barnes was received by the Port; and 
 

WHEREAS, in order to address the fact that more than one of the three Port 
Commissioners was involved in that complaint process, the Port Commission adopted a revision 
to the Port Commission Rules of Policy and Procedure (“Port Rule”) Section 5 by Resolution 
2019-10 on June 11, 2019 to provide for a neutral to conduct the hearing process; and 
 

WHEREAS, in the August 13, 2019 Commission meeting, independent legal counsel, 
Tara L. Parker’s August 6, 2019 Report of Independent Investigation findings were reported and 
the Recommended Action resulting from Ms. Parker’s findings was also reported; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Don Barnes stated that he did not accept the Recommended 

Action and he requested a hearing before a neutral, as provided in Port Policies and Procedure; 
and, 

 
WHEREAS, Port Rule Section 5 states that the determination and recommended action of 

Port counsel shall be submitted to a mutually agreeable neutral selected from the panel of neutrals 
available at the Seattle office of Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services (“JAMS”) or Judicial 
Dispute Resolution (“JDR”), or other similarly qualified third party neutral as agreed upon by the 
Complainant and the Respondents; and,   

 
WHEREAS, the Commission has been provided and reviewed with a list of the JAMS and 

JDR panels of qualified neutrals for the purpose of selecting a third party neutral to conduct the 
Port Rule Section 5 hearing process.   
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners 
of the Port of Kennewick appoints the Hon. Sharon Armstrong of JAMS as the neutral for the 
hearing process to be conducted pursuant to Port Rule Section 5.  In the case that Hon. Sharon 
Armstrong is not available, the Board of Commissioners of the Port of Kennewick appoints 
__________________ as the neutral for the hearing process.   

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that all action by port officers and employees in 

furtherance hereof is ratified and approved; and further, the Port Counsel is authorized to take all 
action necessary in furtherance hereof.  
 

 



  

Resolution No. 2019-17 
Page 2 

 
 
ADOPTED by the Board of Commissioners of the Port of Kennewick on the 27th day of 

August, 2019.  
     
PORT of KENNEWICK 

 BOARD of COMMISSIONERS 
 
       By:  _____________________________ 
        THOMAS MOAK, President 
             
       By:   _____________________________ 
        DON BARNES, Vice President 
 
       By: _____________________________ 
        SKIP NOVAKOVICH, Secretary 

































































































  

          AGENDA REPORT  
 
TO:      Port Commission 
  
FROM:    Lucinda J. Luke, Port Counsel 
 
MEETING DATE:    August 27, 2019 
 
AGENDA ITEM:  Resolution 2019-18, Enactment of Recommended Action for 

Commissioner Moak 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
I. REFERENCE(S):  Independent legal counsel Tara L. Parker’s August 6, 2019 Report of 

Independent Investigation Recommended Action; Port Legal Counsel’s August 6, 2019 
Recommended Action Memorandum (attached); and, Verbal Reprimand (attached). 

 
II. FISCAL IMPACT:  Fees and costs for the investigative process to August 13, 2019 were 

$52,000, not including Port CEO and staff time.   Fees and costs associated with training 
to be conducted with Commissioner Moak are to be borne by Commissioner Moak 
pursuant to the Recommended Action.   Additional fiscal impact is cost of publication and 
other fees and costs incurred to fully enact the Recommended Action accepted by 
Commissioner Moak.  Although difficult to estimate, I believe the Port will incur an 
additional fiscal impact of $10,000. 

 
III. DISCUSSION:  In the August 13, 2019 Commission meeting, Commissioner Tom Moak 

reported that he accepted the Recommended Action resulting from Tara L. Parker’s August 
6, 2019 Report of Independent Investigation which found that Commissioner Moak 
violated the Port Rule requiring civil and respectful treatment of others on one occasion.   

 
Pursuant to the Port Legal Counsel’s August 6, 2019 Recommended Action memorandum, 
the recommended actions for Commissioner Moak’s violation are: 
 
A. Verbal reprimand reported in Commission meeting minutes. 
B. Satisfactory completion by Commissioner Moak of training identified by Port 

Counsel covering the following topics: 

• professional communication skills  
• Port Commission Rules and Policies   

 
Costs and fees for all such training shall be paid by Commissioner Moak.   



  

 
C. Cooperative participation in team building activities and trainings with Port CEO 

and staff.  Such activities shall be identified by Port Counsel with the assistance of consultants, 
Port CEO and staff.   

 
D. Publication of the above sanctions in the Tri-City Herald. 
 
The verbal reprimand is attached to the proposed Resolution 2019-18 and should be read 

into the record today.  Training and team building steps will be conducted over time as directed 
and scheduled by Port counsel. 

 
IV. COUNSEL RECOMMENDATION:  Adopt Resolution 2019-18. 
 
V. ACTION REQUESTED OF COMMISSION:   
 

 
Motion: I move approval of Resolution 2019-18 adopting the Recommended Action of Port 

Counsel for Commissioner Moak’s violation of the Port Rule requiring civil and respectful 
treatment of others on one occasion.   
 
 
 











  

PORT OF KENNEWICK 
 

Resolution No. 2019-18 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS  
OF THE PORT OF KENNEWICK  

ENACTING RECOMMENDED ACTION FOR COMMISSIONER MOAK 
 
 

WHEREAS, on March 25, 2019 a citizen complaint against Commissioners Moak and 
Barnes was received by the Port; and 
 

WHEREAS, an investigation was conducted regarding the complaint by independent legal 
counsel, Tara L. Parker; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Tara L. Parker issued her Report of Independent Investigation on August 6, 

2019 wherein she found that Commissioner Tom Moak violated the Port Rule requiring civil and 
respectful treatment of others on one occasion; and, 

 
WHWEREAS, in the August 13, 2019 Commission meeting, Tara L. Parker’s August 6, 

2019 Report of Independent Investigation findings were reported and the Recommended Action 
resulting from Ms. Parker’s findings was also reported; and, 

 
WHEREAS, Commissioner Tom Moak stated that he would accept the Recommended 

Action; and, 
 
WHEREAS, Pursuant to the Port Legal Counsel’s August 6, 2019 Recommended Action 
memorandum, the recommended actions for Commissioner Moak’s violation are: 
 
A. Verbal reprimand reported in Commission meeting minutes. 
B. Satisfactory completion by Commissioner Moak of training identified by Port 

Counsel covering the following topics: 

• professional communication skills  
• Port Commission Rules and Policies   

 
Costs and fees for all such training shall be paid by Commissioner Moak.   
 
C. Cooperative participation in team building activities and trainings with Port CEO 

and staff.  Such activities shall be identified by Port Counsel with the assistance of consultants, 
Port CEO and staff.   

 
D. Publication of the above sanctions in the Tri-City Herald. 
 
 
 



  

Resolution No. 2019-18 
Page 2 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT HEREBY RESOLVED that the Board of Commissioners 

of the Port of Kennewick hereby adopts and initiates enactment of the above-referenced 
recommended actions for Commissioner Moak’s violation, including reading the attached verbal 
reprimand into the minutes of today’s Commission meeting.   

 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that all actions by Port Counsel and port employees in 

furtherance of enactment and completion of the recommended actions for Commissioner Moak 
are ratified and approved; and further, the Port Counsel is authorized to take all actions necessary 
in furtherance hereof.  
 

ADOPTED by the Board of Commissioners of the Port of Kennewick on the 27th day of 
August, 2019.  

     
PORT of KENNEWICK 

 BOARD of COMMISSIONERS 
 
       By:  _____________________________ 
        THOMAS MOAK, President 
             
       By:   _____________________________ 
        DON BARNES, Vice President 
 
       By: _____________________________ 
        SKIP NOVAKOVICH, Secretary 






